
STIPULATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE 

This Stipulated Settlement Agreement and Release ("SAR") is entered into between Plaintiffs, 
Baumann Farms, LLP, Glenn Heier and Aaron Kaiser, on behalf of themselves and the Certified 
Class, on the one hand; and Defendants Yin Wall City, Inc. (IL), Sut I. Fong, Cheong Sat O, Yin 
Wall City, Inc. (TX), and Yin Wall City, Dallas, Inc., (with entity Defendants referred to 
collectively as “YWC”) on the other hand. Plaintiffs and Defendants are hereinafter referred to 
collectively as “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

 1. Plaintiffs are ginseng farmers located in the State of Wisconsin, who have 
registered as such with Wisconsin’s Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection 
(“DATCP”) pursuant to Wis. Stats. §94.50(2). 

 2. Defendants Fong and Sat O. own the YWC entities, which operate retail outlets in 
Illinois and Texas, selling traditional Chinese medicinal products and other foodstuffs, including 
ginseng root. 

 3. On May 22, 2016 Plaintiffs filed a putative class action complaint against 
Defendants in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, captioned 
Baumann Farms, LLP, et al. v. Yin Wall City, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:16-cv-605 (hereinafter 
referred to as “Lawsuit”). The complaint alleges that Defendants violated §43(a) of the U.S. 
Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. §1125(a)) by selling packages which were mislabeled as containing 
Wisconsin grown ginseng root, rather than ginseng root which was actually grown in China. 

 4. Defendants have maintained throughout the Lawsuit (as confirmed through 
discovery) that the packages Plaintiffs alleged were mislabeled were used by YWC from October 
2012 through May 2015. Defendants have denied that the packages were mislabeled, or that they 
are in any way liable to Plaintiffs. 

 5. On August 22, 2016, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint, 
alleging lack of personal and subject matter jurisdiction. After full briefing by the Parties, the 
Court denied said motion by Decision and Order dated November 29, 2016. Thereinafter, on 
December 19, 2016 Defendants filed an Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint, denying all liability to 
Plaintiffs and raising certain affirmative defenses, together with certain counterclaims and third-
party claims. In bringing the third party claims, Defendants impleaded Ginseng Board of 
Wisconsin, Inc., Thomas Hack, Joe Heil, and Kurt Baumann as Third Party Defendants. Third 
Party Defendants answered the Third Party Complaint, denying all claims and allegations. 
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 6. Pursuant to the Court’s March 6, 2017 Scheduling Order, Plaintiffs filed a Motion 
and Brief to Certify the Class on May 5, 2017. After briefing by the Parties and due 
consideration by the Court, the Court granted said motion and certified the class by Decision and 
Order of August 25, 2017. The Court defined the Certified Class as: 

[A]ll individuals and entities engaged in the business of cultivating ginseng in the 
State of Wisconsin who have registered as ginseng growers with Wisconsin’s 
DATCP as mandated by Wis. Stats. § 94.50(2), from January 2010 through the 
date the defendants stopped selling ginseng in boxes labeled as “grown in 
Wisconsin,” excluding defendants and all officers, directors, employees, and 
agents of defendants.  

 7. After Class Certification, Plaintiffs’ counsel subpoenaed grower registration 
records from DATCP to identify all Wisconsin registered ginseng growers during the period 2010 
through 2017, which totaled 288 individuals or entities, including Plaintiffs. Notice of the 
Lawsuit (using the Court approved Notice) was provided to all such registered ginseng growers 
on February 5, 2018. Six Notices were returned by the United States Postal Service because the 
intended recipients had moved, and no forwarding address was available. Three other individuals 
elected to opt out of participation in the Certified Class. 

 8. The Parties have engaged in extensive written and oral (depositions) discovery in 
the Lawsuit, and participated in Court ordered mediation with a U.S. Magistrate Judge on April 
5, 2018. Additionally, the Parties, through counsel, have engaged in extensive settlement 
discussions throughout the pendency of the Lawsuit, both pre and post mediation. 

 9. The Parties desire to now fully, finally, and forever settle, compromise, and 
discharge all disputes and claims arising from the Lawsuit, as set forth below, including but not 
limited to all claims, counterclaims and third party claims, and further agree to cooperate and 
take all steps necessary and appropriate to dismiss the Lawsuit in its entirety and with prejudice, 
consistent with the terms of this SAR. 

SETTLEMENT TERMS 

 10. Consideration. In consideration of the mutual covenants, promises, and 
warranties set forth in this Agreement, the Parties agree to a class-wide settlement, subject to the 
Court's approval, as follows: 

 11. Incorporation of Recitals. The recitals set forth above are incorporated into this 
Agreement. 

 12. Settlement Contingent Upon Court Approval. The terms of this Settlement are 
subject to approval by the Court. If the Settlement is not approved by the Court or does not 
become final for any reason , then the Parties expressly reserve all of their rights and remedies. 
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 13. If the Settlement Does Not Become Final. If the Settlement does not become 
final for any reason, the Settlement will be deemed null and void. In such an event, the Parties 
will resume the Lawsuit as if the Settlement had not been entered, and the terms and provisions 
of this SAR will have no further force and effect and neither this SAR or any communications 
regarding and leading to this SAR may be used in this Lawsuit or any other action for any 
purpose. 

 14. The Settlement Class. For the purposes of this Settlement only, the "Settlement 
Class" is defined as follows: 

[A]ll individuals and entities engaged in the business of cultivating ginseng in the 
State of Wisconsin who have registered as ginseng growers with Wisconsin’s 
DATCP as mandated by Wis. Stats. § 94.50(2), during the calendar years 2010 
through 2015, excluding defendants and all officers, directors, employees, and 
agents of defendants. 

Since Defendants have stated they ceased selling ginseng root in the objectionable packaging in 
May 2015, the definition of Settlement Class comports with the Court’s definition of the 
Certified Class. Based upon the records of registered ginseng growers subpoenaed by Plaintiffs 
from DATCP, 36 of the 288 ginseng farmers appear to have grown ginseng in 2016 and/or 2017 
only, and thus would not be included in the Settlement Class. 

 15. Settlement Date. The Settlement shall become effective (the "Settlement Date") 
upon the entry of a final order and judgment of dismissal by the Court and the judgment 
becoming final by virtue of it having become final and non-appealable through (i) the expiration 
of all allowable periods for appeal or discretionary appellate review without an appeal or request 
for discretionary appellate review having been filed, or (ii) final affirmance of the judgment on 
appeal or remand, or final dismissal or denial of all such appeals and requests for discretionary 
review. The Court shall retain continuing jurisdiction over the interpretation, implementation and 
enforcement of the Settlement. 

 16. Settlement Benefits to the Class. 

(a). Overall Settlement Benefits. Defendants shall pay the total sum of ONE 
HUNDRED SIXTY THOUSAND AND NO/100 ($160,000.00) DOLLARS in 
full and final settlement of all claims in the Lawsuit, inclusive of all costs and 
attorney fees incurred by Plaintiffs, and of all costs and expenses associated with 
the administration of this settlement to Class Members. 

(b). Settlement Payment to Class Members: Throughout the course of litigation, 
Plaintiffs have admitted they could not prove Defendants’ sales of allegedly 
mislabeled ginseng root actually diverted sales from Plaintiffs, or any other 
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registered ginseng grower. However, Plaintiffs have consistently argued that if 
Defendants were found liable for a violation of §43(a) of the Lanham Act, 
Plaintiffs were nonetheless entitled to recover as damages, the disgorgement of 
Defendants’ profits associated with the mislabeled sales of ginseng root. (See 
specifically Plaintiff’s Brief in response to defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 
14, pp. 15-16). Based upon the foregoing, Plaintiffs have advocated that each of 
them individually, as well as any other registered ginseng grower, had standing to 
seek a disgorgement of Defendants’ profits for violation of §43(a). Consequently, 
Plaintiffs believe the most equitable manner to disburse the net settlement 
proceeds would be on a pro rata basis among all members of the Settlement Class, 
regardless of any one member’s relative ginseng production during the applicable 
period. 

(c). Administration of Settlement: Because of the limited and known size of the 
Settlement Class, and Class Counsel’s prior experience of mailing the initial 
Notice of Class Action to the potential Certified Class members, the settlement 
shall administered by Class Counsel. 

 17. Notice to the Settlement Class. A “Notice of Proposed Settlement” shall be 
provided to the Settlement Class, as identified through the records obtained by Class Counsel 
from DATCP, via the United States Postal Service, First Class postage prepaid, no later than 
ninety (90) days prior to the Final Fairness Hearing, which shall be held on [at least 120 days 
henceforth] ___________, 2018. The Notice of Proposed Settlement shall include reference to a 
“Ginseng Class Action Settlement” webpage (URL: www.ip-lit.us/ginseng-ywc), which shall 
contain downloadable pdf copies of this SAR, the Parties’ Joint Motion for Approval of 
Settlement, Class Counsel's Motion for an Award of Attorney's Fees and Costs, the Class 
Representatives’ Motion for a Participation Award, and any other document or matter required by 
the Court. Said webpage shall be operational as of the date the Notice of Proposed Settlement is 
mailed. 

 18. The Opt-out Process. Settlement Class members will have sixty (60) calendar 
days after the Notices have been mailed to exclude themselves from the Settlement (the "Opt-
Out Deadline"). Settlement Class members may opt out by timely sending a written request 
postmarked no later than the Opt-Out  Deadline. Settlement Class members who timely opt out 
of the Settlement: (a) will not be a part of the Settlement; (b) will  have no right to receive any 
benefits under the Settlement; (c) will  not be bound by the terms of the Settlement ; and (d) will 
not have any right to object to the terms of the Settlement or be heard at the fairness hearing. 

 19. Effect of Opt-out. The Defendants represent that the most recent sale of the 
accused product occurred no later than July, 2015. Based on that representation, and the parties’ 
belief that the applicable statute of limitations under the Lanham Act or any related cause of 
action is three (3) years according to the statutes of limitations in similar causes of action in 
Wisconsin and Illinois, the parties believe that any action commenced in July, 2018 or later by 
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any person eligible to join the class but opting out of the class, or proposed class settlement, 
would be time barred if the Defendants assert the statute of limitations as a defense. The Notice 
of Proposed Settlement should so advise Settlement Class members. 

 20. Objections to the Settlement or to the Fee Motion. 

(a). Any Settlement Class member, on his or her own, or through an attorney hired at 
his or her own expense, may object to the terms of the Settlement. Any such 
objection must be filed with the Court and also served on Class Counsel and 
Counsel for Defendants. To be effective, any such objection must be in writing 
and include the contents described in paragraph 20(c), and must be filed and 
served no later than sixty (60) calendar days after the Notice of Proposed 
Settlement is mailed.  Any objections not raised in a proper form and timely 
manner will be deemed waived. 

(b). Any Settlement Class member, on his or her own, or through an attorney hired at 
his or her own expense, may object to Class Counsel's Motion for an Award of 
Attorney's Fees and Costs and/or the Class Representatives’ Motion for a 
Participation Award. To be effective, any such objection must be in writing and 
include the contents described in paragraph 20(c), and must be filed and served no 
later than sixty (60) calendar days after the Notice of Proposed Settlement is 
mailed.  Any objections not raised in a proper form and timely manner will be 
deemed waived. 

(c). To be effective, any objection described in paragraph 20(a) or paragraph 20(b) 
must contain all of the following information: 

A. A reference at the beginning to this case, Baumann Farms, LLP, et al. v. 
Yin Wall City, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:16-cv-605; 

B. The objector's full name, address, and telephone number; 

C. A written statement of all grounds for the objection, accompanied by any 
legal support for such objection; 

D. Copies of any papers, briefs, or other documents upon which the objection 
is based; 

E. A list of all persons who will be called to testify in support of the 
objection; and 

F. A statement of whether the objector intends to appear at the fairness 
hearing. If the objector intends to appear at the fairness hearing through 
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counsel, the objection must also state the identity of all attorneys 
representing the objector who will appear at the fairness hearing. 

 21. Release by the Settlement Class. As of the Settlement Date, and except as to 
such rights or claims created by the Settlement, Plaintiffs and each Settlement Class member 
who does not timely opt-out of the Settlement forever discharges and releases Defendants, as 
well as their predecessors, successors, affiliates, officers, shareholders, directors, employees, 
attorneys, and agents, from any and all suits, claims, debts, liabilities, demands, obligations, 
guarantees, costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, damages, actions or causes of action, in law or 
equity, of whatever kind or nature, direct or indirect, known or unknown, arising out of the facts 
alleged in Plaintiffs’ Complaint. 

 22. Release by Defendants and Third Party Plaintiffs. As of the Settlement Date, and 
except as to such rights or claims created by the Settlement, Defendants and Third Party 
Plaintiffs forever discharge and release Plaintiffs, the Settlement Class and Third Party 
Defendants, as well as their predecessors, successors, affiliates, officers, shareholders, directors, 
employees, attorneys, and agents, from any and all suits, claims, debts, liabilities, demands, 
obligations, guarantees, costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, damages, actions or causes of action, in 
law or equity, of whatever kind or nature, direct or indirect, known or unknown, arising out of 
the facts alleged by Defendants and Third Party Plaintiffs in their Counterclaim and Third Party 
Complaint. 

 23. Duties of the Parties in Connection With Final Court Approval of the 
Settlement. The Parties’ Joint Motion for Approval of Settlement, referenced above, shall 
request the following relief: 

(a). Approving the Settlement contained in this SAR, adjudicating the terms of the 
Settlement to be fair, reasonable and adequate, and directing completion of its 
terms and provisions; 

(b). Adjudicating that the release contained in paragraph 21 of this SAR bind each 
Settlement Class member who does not timely opt out of the Settlement; 

(c). Determining, as appropriate, an award to each Plaintiff as compensation for their 
services as the class representative; 

(d). Awarding Class Counsel reasonable attorneys' fees and costs; 

(e). Dismissing this Lawsuit in its entirety with prejudice; and 

(f). Retaining continuing jurisdiction over the interpretation, implementation and 
enforcement of the Settlement. 
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 24. Parties’ Authority. The signatories to this Agreement represent that they are fully 
authorized to enter into this Agreement and to bind the Parties to its terms and conditions. 

 25. Mutual Full Cooperation To Effectuate Settlement; Agreement Binding. The 
Parties agree to fully cooperate and take all steps necessary and appropriate to effectuate the 
Settlement, including but not limited to the execution of documents and any other action 
reasonably necessary to implement the terms of this SAR, and to work together in good faith to 
prepare any additional motions or documents required hereunder. 

 26. No Prior Assignments. The Parties represent, covenant, and warrant that they 
have not directly or indirectly assigned, transferred, encumbered, or purported to assign, transfer, 
or encumber, to any person  or entity, any portion of any liability, claim, demand, action, cause of 
action or rights released and  discharged in this Settlement, except as set forth  in this SAR. 

 27. No Admission. Nothing contained in this SAR, nor the consummation of the 
Settlement, is to be construed or deemed an admission of liability, culpability, or wrongdoing on 
the part of any of the Parties. 

 28. No Tax Advice. No provision of this Agreement, and no written communication 
or disclosure between or among the Parties or their attorneys or other advisers, is or was intended 
to be, nor will be construed or relied upon as tax advice. Each of the Parties has relied 
exclusively upon his, her or its own independent tax advisers in connection with the preparation 
and execution of this SAR. 

 29. Notices. Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all notices, 
demands or other communications given under this SAR shall be in writing and addressed as 
follows (subject to the right of each of the Parties to designate another address and/or telephone 
number should such change): 

To Plaintiff and/or the Settlement Class: 

Attorney Michael T. Hopkins 
IP-Litigation.US, LLC 
757 N. Broadway, Suite 201 
Milwaukee, WI  53202 

Tel/Fax: 888-227-1655 
email: mth@ip-lit.us 
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To Defendants: 

Attorney Peter J. Phillips 
Lucas & Mercanti, LLP 
30 Broad Street, 21st Floor 
New York, NY 10004 

Tel: (212) 661-8000 
email: pjphillips@lmiplaw.com 

 30. Construction. The terms and conditions of this Settlement are the result of 
lengthy, intensive, arm's-length negotiations between the Parties and their counsel. As a result, 
this SAR will not be construed in favor of or against any of the Parties by reason of the extent to 
which any of the Parties or his, her or its counsel  participated in the drafting of this SAR. 

 31. Parties To Bear Own Attorney Fees and Costs Except As Otherwise 
Provided. The Parties shall each bear their own attorneys' fees and costs, except as provided in 
this SAR. 

 32. Headings and Interpretations. The paragraph titles, headings, and captions in 
this SAR are inserted as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define, limit, 
extend or describe the scope of this Settlement or any of its provisions. Each term of this 
Settlement is contractual and not merely a recital. 

 33. Modification. This SAR may not be changed, altered, or modified, except in a 
writing signed by the Parties and their counsel and approved by the Court. 

 34. Integration. This SAR contains the entire agreement between the Parties relating 
to the Settlement. All prior or contemporaneous agreements, understandings, representations, and 
statements, whether oral or written, are merged into this SAR. No rights under this SAR may be 
waived except in writing. 

 35. Agreement Binding. This Agreement is binding upon, and inures to the benefit of 
the Parties and their respective heirs, trustees, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. 

 36. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered in counterparts, 
each of which, including but not limited to pages transmitted by facsimile or in electronic PDF 
file format, when so executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original. Facsimile 
signatures shall be treated as originals. 
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AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED: 

Date: O~ - 0 I- J._O I~ 

Date: - - ------- -

Date: - ------- - -

Date : - - - - ------

Date: ----- - - ---

Baumann Farms, LLP 
Plaintiff and Certified Class representative 

Glenn Heier , Plaintiff and Certified 
Class representative 

Aaron Kaiser , Plain tiff and Certified 
Class repre sentati ve 

Yin Wall City, Inc. (IL) 

Defendant 

by: ________ _ _____ _ 

Title: 

Sut I. Fong , Defendant 
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AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED: 

Date: ----- ---- --

Date: g/ 5 )ig r . 

Date: ---- ------ -

Date: ----- ------

Date: -----------

Baumann Farms, LLP 
Plaintiff and Certified Class representative 

by: ---------------
Title: 

Glenn Heier, Plaintiff and Certified 
Class representative 

Aaron Kaiser, Plaintiff and Certified 
Class representative 

Yin Wall City, Inc. (IL) 
Defendant 

by: _______ _______ _ 

Title: 

Sut I. Fong, Defendant 
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AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED: 

Date: -------- ---

Date: -----------

Date : 

Date: -------- ---

Date: - ----------

Baumann Far~s, LLP 
Plaintiff and Certified Class representative 

by: _ ______________ _ 
Title: 

Glenn Heier , Plaintiff and Certified 
Class representative 

Aaron Kaiser , Plaintiff and Certified 
Class representative 

Yin Wall City, Inc. (IL) 

Defendant 

by: __ ____________ _ 

Title : 

Sut I. Fong , Defendant 
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AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED: 

Date : 

Date: - -- -------

Date: ----------

Date: 7 - 2-o .- z o/J> 

Date: 
2- o ; cP-

----- -- ---

Baumann Farms, LLP 
Plaintiff and Certified Class representative 

by: _____ _____ ____ _ 
Title: 

Glenn Heier , Plaintiff and Certified 
Class repre sentative 

Aaron Kaiser, Plaintiff and Certified 
Class representativ e 

Yin Wall City, Inc. (IL) 

Defendant~~ :fi 6 
by: __ p_· ~r~e~s~,_· J_e...._n~± _ _ _ 

Title: 

.. ~ 
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Date: 

Yin Wall City, Inc. (TX) 
Defendant 

Date: 
7-2D ,- z.D/cJ-

Title: 

Yin Wall City, Dallas, Inc. 
Defendant 

Date: by : _ _ J_' e_c_Y-_e..._t _c\._Y---+'f __ _ 
Title: f 
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